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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 

DIAMOND RESORTS INTERNATIONAL, INC., 
DIAMOND RESORTS U.S. COLLECTION 
DEVELOPMENT, LLC, DIAMOND RESORTS  
HAWAII COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT, LLC, 
and DIAMOND RESORTS MANAGEMENT, INC.,  

Plaintiffs, 

vs.      Case No.: 6:17-cv-1394-RBD-DCI 

AUSTIN N. AARONSON, individually,  
and AARONSON, AUSTIN, PA.  

Defendants. 
________________________________________/ 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
(INJUNCTIVE RELIEF SOUGHT) 

Plaintiffs Diamond Resorts International, Inc., Diamond Resorts U.S. Collection 

Development, LLC, Diamond Resorts Hawaii Collection Development, LLC, and Diamond 

Resorts Management, Inc. (collectively, “Diamond Resorts”) sue Defendants Austin N. 

Aaronson and Aaronson, Austin, PA, and state: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Diamond Resorts markets, sells and manages more than 420 vacation 

destinations throughout the world.  Defendants Austin Aaronson and Aaronson, Austin, PA 

(collectively “Aaronson”) are a lawyer and his law firm who claim to have a “secret sauce” 

of legal remedies “that are relatively straightforward and easy to prove” to avoid a timeshare 

member’s legitimate and legally enforceable obligations. Aaronson uses false and deceptive 
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internet based advertising, including videos displayed on YouTube starring a non-lawyer 

surrogate, to mislead existing timeshare members about the services Aaronson has to offer. 

In fact all Aaronson does is make extortionate demands that Aaronson knows, but does not 

inform his clients, are generally ignored and universally unsuccessful and then either induces 

timeshare members to breach their contracts or exposes them to exponentially greater 

litigation risk (again without informing his clients) almost always with disastrous bankruptcy 

threatening consequences.  

2. Seizing on the internet’s ubiquitous potential to deceive, Aaronson targets 

Diamond Resorts members who do not realize Aaronson’s solicitation is false and misleading 

with a fabricated story about Diamond Resorts, for example, “it is commonplace for 

[timeshare] developers to use fraudulent tactics to obtain signatures on timeshare contracts”. 

These and many other Aaronson statements presented on his website and distributed via the 

internet are replete with legal advice and can only be viewed as an ethically prohibited 

prediction or guarantee of success or of specific results.  

3. One portion of the Aaronson sales pitch portrays Diamond Resorts’ business 

model as unlawful, announcing, as if it were fact, Aaronson says “No one said that any of 

[Diamond Resorts’ conduct] is necessarily lawful”, adding “If you’ve been hoodwinked into 

‘purchasing’ your [Diamond Resorts] vacation, please feel free to contact us.” Aaronson’s 

advertising stock-in-trade is to spread disinformation to entice members to employ him and 

his enterprise.

4. Aaronson’s marketing and the methods he employs in conducting his business 

are intentionally calculated to mislead Diamond Resorts’ existing members and induce them 
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to breach valid agreements with Diamond Resorts. In particular, his statements soliciting 

Diamond Resorts members and the methods Aaronson employs once hired have induced 

specific Diamond Resorts members to stop making payments legitimately due to Diamond 

Resorts. 

5. Aaronson’s use of false and misleading advertising to sell his services and 

deceptive and unfair trade practices once he has been employed has played a material and 

substantial part in inducing existing members to breach existing contracts and cease doing 

business with Diamond Resorts and others not to deal with Diamond Resorts.

6. Aaronson’s misconduct gives rise to at least four separate claims that 

Diamond Resorts brings here: I – False Advertising in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(a); II – Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations; III – Trade Libel; 

and, IV – violations of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act.

JURISDICTION, PARTIES, AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1331, as a federal 

question under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) is presented, or diversity under 28 

U.S.C. § 1332 in that the parties are completely diverse and the amount in controversy 

exceeds $75,000.00. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 over 

all other state law claims that are so related that they form a part of the same case or 

controversy. 

8. Plaintiff Diamond Resorts International, Inc. is a corporation organized and 

existing under the laws of Delaware with its principal place of business located at 10600 

West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada and is a person or entity engaged in 
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commerce within control of Congress (“Diamond Resorts” or “DRI”, as the context 

requires). DRI is a citizen of either Delaware or Nevada. 

9. Plaintiff Diamond Resorts U.S. Collection Development, LLC is a limited 

liability company organized and existing under the laws of Delaware with its principal place 

of business located at10600 West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada and is a person 

or entity engaged in commerce within control of Congress (“Diamond Resorts”, “U.S. 

Collection” or “Developer”, as the context requires).  

10. The sole member of U.S. Collection is Diamond Resorts Developer and Sales 

Holding Company, a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 10600 West 

Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada. U.S. Collection is a citizen of either Delaware or 

Nevada. 

11. Plaintiff Diamond Resorts Hawaii Collection Development, LLC is a limited 

liability company under the laws of Delaware with its principal place of business at 10600 

West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada and is a person or entity engaged in 

commerce within control of Congress (“Diamond Resorts”, “Hawaii Collection” or “DRHC”, 

as the context requires). 

12. The sole member of Hawaii Collection is Diamond Resorts Developer and 

Sales Holding Company, a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 10600 

West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada. Hawaii Collection is a citizen of either 

Delaware or Nevada. 

13. Plaintiff Diamond Resorts Management, Inc. is a corporation organized and 

existing under the laws of Arizona with its principal place of business at 10600 West 
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Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada and is a person or entity engaged in commerce 

within control of Congress (“Diamond Resorts” or “DRMI”, as the context requires). DRMI 

is a citizen of either Arizona or Nevada. 

14. Defendant Austin Aaronson is an individual domiciled in Seminole County, 

Florida, is not a member of the military services, and is otherwise sui juris (“A. Aaronson” or 

collectively with  Aaronson, Austin, PA, “Aaronson”). A. Aaronson is the President of  

Defendant Aaronson, Austin, PA, is, upon information and belief, its sole shareholder and in 

all respects directs and controls each action taken and all conduct perpetrated by Defendant 

Aaronson Austin, PA described herein and otherwise. A. Aaronson is a citizen of Florida. 

15. Aaronson, Austin, PA is a Florida for profit corporation with its principal 

place of business located at 2180 West State Road 434, Suite 6136, Longwood, Florida 

32779, where it has a registered agent for service process (“Aaronson PA” or collectively 

with Austin Aaronson, “Aaronson”). Aaronson PA is a citizen of Florida. 

16. Venue is appropriate in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 in that each 

defendant resides, is located or does business in the State of Florida and in particular within 

the geographic confines of the Middle District of Florida. 

GENERAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Diamond Resorts 

17. Diamond Resorts International®, with global headquarters in Las Vegas, 

Nevada, is one of the largest hospitality companies in the world with more than 420 branded 

and affiliated resorts and over 27,000 guest beds in 35 countries and destinations throughout 
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the continental United States and Hawaii, Canada, Mexico, the Caribbean, Europe, Asia, 

Australia, and Africa. 

18. Diamond Resorts International® manages vacation membership resorts and 

sells vacation membership points – a kind of vacation “currency” for members to redeem – 

that provide members, members, and guests Vacations for Life® at over 420 managed and 

affiliated properties and cruise itineraries. 

19. Diamond Resorts Corporation and its subsidiaries develop, own, operate, and 

manage vacation membership resorts and, through resort and partner affiliations, provide 

members and members with access to more than 109 managed resorts, more than 300 

affiliated resorts, and more than 20 cruise itineraries through THE Club® at Diamond Resorts 

International®. 

20. Accommodation choices at selected Diamond Resorts owned and managed 

resorts have been allocated into eight groupings of resorts called Collections, e.g., U.S. 

Collection, Hawaii Collection, Premiere Vacation Collection, California Collection, and 

European Collection. 

21. For example, Diamond Resorts US Collection is an ultra-flexible points-based 

program offering a variety of destinations primarily throughout the United States. Members 

can select from more than 40 different resorts in places like Lake Tahoe, Sedona, Orlando, 

Hilton Head, Las Vegas and other destinations. 

22. In addition to the resorts owned and managed by Diamond Resorts, THE 

Club® has affiliations with many other resorts which expand the portfolio of destinations at 

which members can stay when using their Collection points. THE Club® augments the array 
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of accommodation options it provided to Collection members by allowing the redemption of 

points for airline tickets, rental cars and other travel related services. 

23. Diamond Resorts has invested heavily in the development, evolution and 

perpetual improvement of its products and services. It continually adds new and improved 

services to its member menu and is constantly otherwise improving its member experience. 

24. Diamond Resorts actively and aggressively protects its proprietary business 

practices and processes and its brands. It devotes substantial resources to advertising and 

other marketing promotions to increase the visibility and recognition of its proprietary 

products and to maintain and enhance the value of its brands. Diamond Resorts competes 

directly with other developers and marketers of vacation and travel products and services 

who target similar consumers. The good will associated with Diamond Resorts brands and its 

products and services is essential to Diamond Resorts ability to effectively compete in a 

highly competitive marketplace. 

Aaronson’s false, deceptive, and misleading conduct 

25. Given the content of its website (http://aaronsonlawgroup.com), Aaronson 

PA’s law practice is limited to lambasting timeshare and resort developers, promising their 

members and members that they can avoid the legitimate, binding legal and financial 

obligations of purchase and financing contracts. Aaronson’s marketing assures a timeshare 

member that “for a very reasonable cost” Aaronson will “leverage” companies like Diamond 

Resorts to release the timeshare member from a legally binding contract: the purchase and 

financing of a timeshare or vacation club interest. 

Case 6:17-cv-01394-RBD-DCI   Document 47   Filed 02/08/18   Page 7 of 26 PageID 396



Diamond Resorts International, Inc. et al.  
v. Austin N. Aaronson et al. 

First Amended Complaint 

8 

26. Aaronson’s sales pitch is a classic false advertising campaign where he 

brazenly – and falsely – claims that he has “leverage” over Diamond Resorts. Aaronson’s 

only goal, in actuality, is to collect an up-front fee by pitching a concocted distortion of 

Diamond Resorts, its business, and reality. 

27. For instance, Aaronson exacts his advance fee before providing any services 

by telling Diamond Resorts’ members “the chances are good” that Diamond Resorts “is 

exposed legally in ways that are relatively straightforward and provable”. 

28. As a big part of his business practices, Aaronson tells these Diamond Resorts’ 

members the “contract you signed is chock full of waivers and disclaimers to protect the 

developer”, but then, without any basis in fact or law and refuted by actual results, we “know 

how to exploit other points of vulnerability.” 

29. Aaronson lures in Diamond Resorts members with videos proclaiming “fraud” 

and emphasizing, according to Aaronson’s advertising, a set of ways “obvious and easy to 

prove” (e.g., “conflict of interest” “[i]mproper handling of trust funds”) to make timeshare 

developers such as Diamond Resorts tremble and quickly capitulate, without informing his 

targets that this is something that Aaronson has never been able to actually accomplish and 

which he has no idea how to actually do. 

30. For example, in one of many videos on the website, Aaronson states: 

Time shares are not good.  How do we know this?  Because people tell us.  
The stories are remarkably consistent.  They tell us about some enticement 
they were offered such as a free theme park ticket or a discounted resort stay.  
All they had to do was to sit through an hour long presentation but then an 
hour became 4 or 5 hours.  Hour after hour of high-pressure sales pitching and 
they were ready to sign almost anything just to physically escape the room.  
And then there were the rapid fire signings of routine closing documentation 
presented as the salesman rifled through page after page.  They describe the 
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rude awakening when the first bill came in the mail.  And then came the shock 
they felt when they actually had time to read the sales contract with all its 
attachments for the first time at home.  Perhaps they called the developer 
asking for the nice salesman who sold it to them who is nowhere to be found.  
And finally, there was a terrible frustration of actually trying to book their 
vacation only to be told they didn’t have enough points or some other excuse.  
But reciting this disturbing series of events is not going to help legally.  Why?  
Because it’s your word against theirs.  Plus there are a thousand disclaimers 
and waivers in those closing documents, enough to absolve the developer of 
almost anything.  But that’s not to stay that you don’t have any leverage, any 
cards to play.  At the Aaronson firm we focus on other ways to release your 
obligation.  One in particular – maintenance.  Your developer has a fiduciary 
duty to manage the resorts in your best interest.  Chances are they’re in breach 
of that duty in ways that are very obvious and easy to prove.  This is where the 
developer is most vulnerable.  This is where your leverage is and you owe it to 
yourself to hire experienced, competent counsel.  At the Aaronson firm we 
have over 40 years of combined legal experience and we are willing to sue, if 
necessary, in the interest of getting you released.  So call us, free of charge, to 
discuss your situation, please. Your legal problems are not insurmountable. 

31. Based in part on this sales pitch, Aaronson encourages and often convinces 

Diamond Resorts members with whom Diamond Resorts has existing, valid and binding 

contracts to breach their contracts with Diamond Resorts (e.g., stop making payments), or to 

sue Diamond Resorts without even a whisper of a legitimate supportable provable reason for 

doing so.  In the end, Aaronson, with his advance paid fee in hand, ends up causing profound 

harm to the clients to whom he has predicted, promised, and guaranteed he can “leverage” 

Diamond Resorts. 

32. Aaronson’s use of innuendo along with outright false statements on his web 

site, for example, is deceptive. 

33. For instance, Aaronson especially targets Diamond Resorts members:  

a conflict of interest exists when one’s duty to act in your best interest is compromised 
by some other factor, typically money. In the case of Diamond Resorts International, 
such a conflict is evident in every aspect of what they do, particularly in the 
management of their resorts, 
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which Aaronson then portrays as “obvious and easy to prove,” something Aaronson’s actual 

results prove false. 

34. Aaronson goes on to further disparage Diamond Resorts, its structure, and 

management activities – erroneously in fact - describing a “conflict of interest”, writing:  

“Invariably Diamond Resorts’ stooges … appoint Diamond Resorts’ ‘U.S. Collections’ 
arm to manage the resort…. Diamond Resorts will invariably install itself as the 
management company running its resorts, even though it lacks a majority membership 
interest in any given resort that would legally qualify it to do so,” 

something, Aaronson purposely omits, Diamond Resorts is expressly empowered to do by 

virtue of state approved regime documents and, often, by state timeshare statutes or 

regulations. 

35. Aaronson then sells Diamond Resorts members on the notion that they are 

powerless to deal with this “conflict of interest” because “Unlike Diamond Resorts, you the 

member of a resort interval are ‘out of the loop’. You don’t have a roster of other members, 

and thus no way to communicate with them. Thus, there is now way to galvanize opposition 

to the status quo. And the cycle repeats itself year after year.” 

36. The net effect of Aaronson’s marketing and solicitations is the deceptive and 

false impression that Diamond Resorts engages in unlawful and fraudulent conduct, which 

Aaronson says – falsely – he can use as leverage and that he sells as a way to get Diamond 

Resorts members to hire him after which he induces them to breach their contractual 

obligations or to assert bogus claims against Diamond Resorts. 

37. So far, Aaronson’s false, deceptive, and misleading marketing has caused 

identifiable Diamond Resorts members to stop making payments on their Promissory Notes 
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which they signed when they purchased their points-based, multi-location, vacation club 

membership (timeshare) interest, to stop paying maintenance and other fees they 

contractually committed to pay, and to file baseless, frivolous and unprovable legal claims 

against Diamond Resorts. 

Aaronson’s Deceptive Business Practices at Work 

38. Unsurprisingly, Aaronson’s “leverage” was illusory and his often garbled 

letters failed to garner the results, predicted, promised, and guaranteed, so Aaronson started 

making multiple demands for arbitration on behalf of those he had solicited with his 

prediction and guarantee of success. 

39.  Aaronson’s arbitration demands contained claims tracking his marketing 

pitch and focusing on maintenance fees, portrayed on his website as the timeshare industry’s 

soft, vulnerable underbelly. DRI, which neither contracted with the members nor managed 

the Collection resorts, was falsely accused of both. US Collection and Hawaii Collection, 

which did contract with the members and sell them Collection points, were falsely alleged to 

manage the Collection resorts and outrageously and falsely accused of stealing maintenance 

fee monies. DRMI, which does manage the Collections and many of the Collection resorts 

and collects the maintenance fees in behalf of the various members’ associations, was never 

mentioned, even though the most minimal presuit investigation would have revealed its role. 

40. The marketing pitch based arbitration claims manifest Aaronson’s misuse of 

legal machinery for a “bad faith” and improper purpose and the results Aaronson obtained – 

many of these claims have been fully litigated – underscore the false and deceptive character 

of the promises he made in his Website and other marketing materials. 
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41. For example, in one case: 

the Arbitrator was impacted by the obvious lack of proof supporting any of 
Claimant's claims. On the other hand, Claimant herself seems to have had little 
knowledge of the contents of her Statement of Claim and Amended Statement of 
Claim. . . . She also exhibited a total unfamiliarity with any of the prior time-share 
documents executed by her and her husband, as well as of the current documents at 
issue. When asked about her evidence of misappropriation, overcharging, or 
misuse of maintenance fees, conflicts of interest, or of just about anything alleged 
in the Statement, she admitted that she had none. . . . In addition, if a person 
chooses to sue or arbitrate on any commercial transaction, the person doing the suing 
or claiming in an arbitration must make an effort to understand and approve the 
nature of the allegations and what proof would sustain it, or face negative 
consequences. For whatever reason, that does not seem to be the case with Claimant 
in this arbitration. 

42. The same arbitrator went on to specifically explain: 

there seemed to have been total disconnect between Claimant herself and 
counsel who had signed all of her claims. Respondents offered into evidence an 
infomercial issued by Claimant's lead counsel which infomercial is quoted in full in 
Respondents'  PreHearing Brief. The speaker states in that ad that "[t]imeshares are 
not good ... we [the law firm] focus on other ways to release your obligation. One in 
particular -- maintenance. Your developer has a fiduciary duty to manage the resorts 
in your best interest. Chances are they're in breach of that duty in ways that are very 
obvious and easy to prove. This is where the developer is most vulnerable. This is 
where your leverage is and you owe it to yourself to hire experienced, competent 
counsel..." This infomercial was quite impacting when its claims as to results 
were contrasted with the dearth of real evidence for such claims offered at the 
Final Hearing.  

The arbitrator concluded: 

Given the utter lack of evidence to support Claimant's claims, particularly as to there 
being inflated, misused or misappropriated maintenance fees, her lack of knowledge 
of the Statement of Claim filed by her as well as the one filed against her, all coupled 
with the contents of the infomercial described above, the Arbitrator comes to the 
conclusion that this Amended Statement of Claim was without factual basis.  

43. The end result, far from what was falsely promised by Aaronson, was: “All 

claims brought by Claimant for which she had the burden of proof, and there being no proof 

of any of them, are denied as having no basis in law or in fact.”  
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44. In another example, typical of dozens of the cases Aaronson has filed, the 

arbitrator found, for example, the “breach of fiduciary duty” claim to be “illogical and 

meritless” and found the “accounting” claim to be indicative of “bad faith. As to the 

accounting claim, for instance, the arbitrator chronicled the information of which Aaronson 

was fully aware before the final hearing and concluded there was “no remaining basis to 

continue to maintain Count II at the Final Hearing. It should have been withdrawn. . . . This 

is indicative of a bad faith claim. The continued assertion . . . [was] disingenuous.”  

45. As to the escalation of annual dues or maintenance fees issue, this arbitrator 

likewise found “Not only is this allegation not sustained, but it is evidence of lack of good 

faith in bringing this claim.”  

46. In a third case – again typical – the arbitrator found the “claims asserted by 

Claimant in this matter were not brought in good faith, thereby entitling Respondents to be 

reimbursed by Claimant for all funds paid or advanced to the American Arbitration 

Association as well as attorneys' fees and costs incurred in this matter.”  

47. This arbitrator explained the lack of good faith this way:  

the claims asserted in this arbitration essentially fall into two categories: that funds 
were misappropriated or handled in breach of a fiduciary duty, notwithstanding that 
no such funds were ever paid, and that Claimant was fraudulently induced into 
entering into his agreement because he was told things that are belied by the 
documents that he signed. As reflected above, the Arbitrator has rejected each of 
these claims as being either predicated upon a false premise (that is, that Claimant 
paid maintenance fees) or cannot be supported in light of documents executed and 
acknowledged by Claimant.” 

48. In a fourth case, the arbitrator found Aaronson failed to present evidence of 

legal argument to prove or support the claims and that other claims – for example, “breach of 

Case 6:17-cv-01394-RBD-DCI   Document 47   Filed 02/08/18   Page 13 of 26 PageID 402



Diamond Resorts International, Inc. et al.  
v. Austin N. Aaronson et al. 

First Amended Complaint 

14 

fiduciary”, “conflict of interest”, and escalating “maintenance fee” – were demonstrably 

unsupported by the facts or by any “legal authority”.   

49. That arbitrator, tellingly, also specifically found that “Claimant’s testimony 

revealed that she knew nothing of the facts, of the nature of her own claims, or of any 

damages.”

50. In a fifth case, the arbitrator ruled that on each claim brought “Claimants . . . 

by the greater weight of the evidence did not bring the claim in good faith.”  

51. In a sixth case, and by no means the last example of Aaronson’s knowing, 

purposeful false, deceptive, unfair and unconscionable acts and practices, the arbitrator  

believe[d] the Claimant had an absence of design to defraud, or an absence of 
malice in his actions. Claimant's counsel however, did not, in this Arbitrator's 
opinion, investigate the facts thoroughly and presented no legal theories upon 
which relief could be granted. Claimant's counsel's pursuit of relief for Claimant, 
in this case, is disingenuous and if counsel for Claimant continues such a path of 
filing claims that are lacking in merit as this one is, consequences could result to 
Claimant's law firm. 

52. These cases are by no means the only illustrations of Aaronson’s misconduct 

or the disastrous litigation results of his misleading, false, and deceptive marketing. 

Aaronson has filed more than fifty (50) arbitration claims against Diamond Resorts; these six 

cases are illustrative of instances where Aaronson’s marketing resulted in arbitrations where 

provably false accusations were made about Diamond Resorts and in which Aaronson’s 

clients – Diamond Resorts’ members – suffered adverse and often financially ruinous 

awards. And notwithstanding the results, Diamond Resorts has incurred litigation expenses – 

arbitration forum fees, arbitrator compensation, attorneys’ fees and costs – far exceeding 

$75,000, all as a consequence of Aaronson’s false and deceptive acts and practices.  
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53. Given the calamitous results that Aaronson’s litigation strategy had achieved, 

Aaronson has resorted to outright extortion. On April 18, 2017 Aaronson wrote Diamond 

Resorts, threatening more litigation and even repeat lawsuits (“. . . we cannot rule out the 

possibility that some cases, at least, may again be subject of formal challenges” (e.s.)) unless 

Diamond Resorts surrendered to his bogus accusations and sham lawsuits. Like Aaronson’s 

earlier litany of concocted charges and trumped-up demands, this letter warranted no 

response at the time.  

54. All conditions precedent to this lawsuit have been performed, waived, or 

excused. 

55. Diamond Resorts retained the undersigned law firm in this action and is 

obligated to pay the attorneys a reasonable fee for their services. 

COUNT I 
FALSE ADVERTISING IN VIOLATION OF THE 

43(a), LANHAM ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) 

56. Diamond Resorts incorporates by reference the allegations contained and set 

forth in paragraphs 1 through 55 above. 

57. Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act provides a cause of action for unfair 

competition through false advertising. 

58. Diamond Resorts is engaged in commerce within the control of Congress 

because it has a cognizable commercial interest in reputation or sales and falls within the 

zone of interest protected by 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

59. As outlined above, Aaronson made material false or misleading statements in 

interstate commerce in connection with commercial advertising or solicitation. 
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60. Aaronson’s statements, outlined in part above, are not only literally false, but 

also are misleading when considered in their full context. 

61. Aaronson substantially injured Diamond Resorts’ business reputation by 

leading consumers and others in the trade to believe his false statements of fact about his 

services (e.g., the ability to leverage Diamond Resorts) and by falsely stating that Diamond 

Resorts is engaged in unlawful or illegal conduct, which Aaronson intimates makes Diamond 

Resorts susceptible to his leverage. 

62. Aaronson’s advertisements, as the examples above and others to be presented 

demonstrate, actually deceived or have the tendency to deceive Diamond Resorts members 

because Diamond Resorts can establish that specific members have, for example, stopped 

making payments based on Aaronson’s sales pitch or were deluded by Aaronson into filing 

bogus legal claims against Diamond Resorts. 

63. Aaronson’s deception is material and likely to influence and, in fact, did 

influence the decisions of specific, identifiable Diamond Resorts’ members to stop making 

payments to Diamond Resorts based on the impairment of Diamond Resorts’ reputation and 

goodwill. 

64. As outline in part above, Diamond Resorts suffered an injury to commercial 

and reputational interests based on Aaronson’s misrepresentation, false, and deceptive 

statements about Diamond Resorts, its brand and its products. 

65. As outlined in part above, Aaronson’s misrepresentation, false, and deceptive 

statements about Diamond Resorts, its brand and its products are violations of 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(a) and are the direct and proximate cause of Diamond Resorts’ actual injuries. 
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66. Aaronson has no justification or privilege for inducing Diamond Resorts 

members to breach their contracts with Diamond Resorts. 

67. Aaronson’s actions have been willful and make this case exceptional under 15 

U.S.C. § 1117(a). 

68. An injunction is a viable form of relief under the Act.  

a. Diamond Resorts has a substantial likelihood of success on merits 

since the statements made are actually false or false in context. Even if considered a 

representation of opinion, Aaronson implies the existence of facts that justify the opinion, or 

at least that there are no facts known to Aaronson that are substantially incompatible with the 

stated opinion. 

b. Diamond Resorts is likely to suffer additional immediate and 

irreparable harm including damage to its reputation, loss of sales or market share, and other 

injuries for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Aaronson’s misstatements and false 

assertions to and solicitation of Diamond Resorts members encouraging them to allow him to 

“leverage” Diamond Resorts and to cease the payment of their obligations will cause 

irreparable harm. 

c. The balance of hardships favors Diamond Resorts because the 

Aaronson’s false statements and advertising campaign continue to be disseminated. 

Aaronson cannot assert an equitable interest in perpetuating or continuing a false claim 

generally, let alone a false advertising campaign that specifically singles out Diamond 

Resorts.  
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d. The public interest is served in receiving accurate information. Thus, it 

is self-evident that preventing false or misleading advertising is in the public interest.  

WHEREFORE, Diamond Resorts respectfully prays this Court: 

A. Enter a permanent injunction after trial in favor of Diamond Resorts and 

enjoining Aaronson and Aaronson, Austin, PA, his or its directors, officers, shareholders, 

attorneys, agents, servants, employees, and any other persons in active concert or 

participation with them from: 

1) Engaging in false and misleading advertising; 

2) Engaging in deceptive or unfair trade practices; 

B. Enter an Order that Aaronson be required to deliver-up (take-down) and 

destroy all false, misleading, and deceptive material found on the Aaronson PA website and 

found in any marketing material or documentation Aaronson PA produces or is using; 

C. Enter an Order that Aaronson be directed to file with this Court and serve on 

Diamond Resorts within fifteen days after the service of an injunction a report, in writing 

under oath, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which Aaronson has complied with 

the injunction; 

D. Enter an Order requiring Aaronson to provide notice of the injunction by – 

posting the Order on the Aaronson website; 

E. Enter Judgment in favor of Diamond Resorts and against Defendants for 

damages and lost profits (a natural consequence of Aaronson’s wrongs); 

F. Enter Judgment in favor of Diamond Resorts and against Defendants for 

treble its actual damages (see 15 U.S.C.A. § 1117(a)); 

Case 6:17-cv-01394-RBD-DCI   Document 47   Filed 02/08/18   Page 18 of 26 PageID 407



Diamond Resorts International, Inc. et al.  
v. Austin N. Aaronson et al. 

First Amended Complaint 

19 

G. Enter Judgment in favor of Diamond Resorts and against Defendants for the 

recovery of Defendants’ profits (see 15 U.S.C.A. § 1117(a)); 

H. Enter Judgment in favor of Diamond Resorts and against Defendants for costs 

of suit, expenses, and attorneys’ fees incurred in this action; and 

I. Award Diamond Resorts such other and further relief as the Court may deem 

proper and just. 

COUNT II 
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE 

WITH CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP 

69. Diamond Resorts incorporates by reference the allegations contained and set 

forth in paragraphs 1 through 54 above.  

70. Diamond Resorts has existing contracts with its members, members of a 

points-based timeshare interest, which evidence Diamond Resorts’ advantageous business 

relationships and under which Diamond Resorts has prospective legal or contractual rights. 

71. Aaronson has knowledge of the contracts Diamond Resorts has with its 

members. 

72. Aaronson actively advertises and specifically targets a) Diamond Resorts 

members who have points-based timeshare contracts with Diamond Resorts and b) Diamond 

Resorts’ prospective members. 

73. Aaronson intentionally induced members to breach their agreements by, for 

instance, instructing them not to pay purchase money promissory notes and maintenance 

fees. 
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74. Aaronson has no justification or privilege for inducing Diamond Resorts 

members to breach their contracts with Diamond Resorts. 

75. An injunction is a viable form of relief in suit for tortious interference.  

a) Diamond Resorts has a clear legal right or interest in the contracts with 

its members. 

b) Aaronson has procured dozens of unwarranted and unjustified contract 

breaches, so Diamond Resorts has a substantial likelihood of success on merits. 

c) Aaronson continues to solicit Diamond Resorts members through 

misleading and deceptively false marketing, which shows a strong likelihood that Diamond 

Resorts will suffer irreparable harm on an ongoing basis because any remedy at law for 

Aaronson’s perpetuation of the deceptive, fraudulent, and unfair marketing and solicitation 

practices is inadequate. 

d) An injunction serves the public interest.  

76. As a proximate result of Aaronson’s unlawful conduct, Diamond Resorts is 

being irreparably harmed and is entitled to have Aaronson’s conduct enjoined and restrained. 

Alternatively, Diamond Resorts is entitled to damages for interference with contracts and 

business relationships. 

WHEREFORE, Diamond Resorts respectfully prays this Court: 

A. Enter Judgment after trial for a permanent injunction in favor of Diamond 

Resorts and against Aaronson and Aaronson, Austin, PA, his or its officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and attorneys and on those persons in active concert or participation with them 

who receive actual notice of the injunction enjoining each one of them from: 

Case 6:17-cv-01394-RBD-DCI   Document 47   Filed 02/08/18   Page 20 of 26 PageID 409



Diamond Resorts International, Inc. et al.  
v. Austin N. Aaronson et al. 

First Amended Complaint 

21 

1) Engaging in false and misleading advertising; 

2) Engaging in deceptive or unfair trade practices; 

B. Enter Judgment for damages and lost profits (a natural consequence of 

Aaronson’s wrongs) and punitive damages; 

B. Enter Judgment in favor of Diamond Resorts and against Defendants for costs 

of suit incurred in this action; and 

C. Award Diamond Resorts such other and further relief as the Court may deem 

proper.  

COUNT III 
TRADE LIBEL 

77. Diamond Resorts incorporates by reference the allegations contained and set 

forth in paragraphs 1 through 54 above.  

78. As set forth in part above, Aaronson and his advertising materials contain and 

promote the dissemination of falsehoods. 

79. Aaronson has published and continues to publish falsehoods, which are 

openly and freely communicated to each third person visiting his advertising pages on the 

internet, e.g., http://aaronsonlawgroup.com and are targeted at Diamond Resorts members 

and those considering buying from Diamond Resorts. 

80. Aaronson, the publisher, knows or reasonably should know that his 

advertising and marketing efforts, including his use of pejoratives and falsehoods, will likely 

result in inducing others not to deal with Diamond Resorts. 

81. In fact, Aaronson’s falsehoods do play a material and substantial part in 

inducing others not to deal with Diamond Resorts, as set forth by example above. 
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82. As the matters alleged above show, Diamond Resorts suffered injury because 

of Aaronson’s written or oral publication of false defamatory matter, which tends to be 

prejudicial in Diamond Resorts’ conduct of a trade or business or tends to deter third persons 

from dealing in business with Diamond Resorts. 

83. As a result of Aaronson’s publication of the false and defamatory matter, 

Diamond Resorts was greatly injured in reputation and credit. Diamond Resorts’ business has 

suffered great loss of custom, and has been deprived of great gains and profits, which 

otherwise Diamond Resorts would have made, and has otherwise sustained loss and injury, to 

Diamond Resorts’ damage in an amount to be proven but regardless exceeding $5,000,000.

WHEREFORE, Diamond Resorts respectfully prays this Court: 

A. Enter Judgment in favor of Diamond Resorts and against Defendants for 

damages; 

B. Enter Judgment in favor of Diamond Resorts and against Defendants for costs 

of suit incurred in this action; and 

C. Award Plaintiff such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper. 

COUNT IV 
VIOLATION OF 

FLORIDA DECEPTIVE UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT 
AND FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

84. Diamond Resorts incorporates by reference the allegations contained and set 

forth in paragraphs 1 through 55 above and paragraphs 59 through 66 (as applicable herein) 

of Count I hereof. 

85. As outlined above, Aaronson has engaged in unfair and deceptive acts and 

practices (“UDAP”). 
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86. As outlined above, Diamond Resorts is a person “aggrieved” by Aaronson’s 

UDAP. 

87. An injunction is a viable form of relief in a UDAP claim such as this one. § 

501.211, Fla. Stat. 

a) Diamond Resorts has a clear legal right or interest in being free from 

Aaronson’s deceptive or unfair marketing and solicitations, as the false statements set forth 

above show Diamond Resorts has demonstrated specific past, present, and future grievances 

if Aaronson is not enjoined. 

b) Aaronson has made written deceptive, misleading, and unfair 

statements, so Diamond Resorts has a substantial likelihood of success on merits. 

c) Aaronson continues to solicit Diamond Resorts members through 

misleading and deceptively false marketing, which shows a strong likelihood that Diamond 

Resorts will suffer irreparable harm on an ongoing basis because any remedy at law for 

Aaronson’s perpetuation of the deceptive, fraudulent, and unfair marketing and solicitation 

practices is inadequate. 

d) An injunction serves the public interest.  

88. As set forth in part above, Aaronson’s conduct:  

a) is likely to mislead and is deceptive; or 

b) is an “unfair practice” because among other things the false and 

deceptive marketing offends established public policy and is immoral, unethical, oppressive, 

unscrupulous or substantially injurious. 
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89. As set forth in part above, Aaronson's conduct was and continues to be willful 

in that violations occurred and continue to occur even though Aaronson knows, knew or 

should have known that his conduct was unfair or deceptive or prohibited by rule and caused 

the actual harm of which Diamond Resorts complains. 

WHEREFORE, Diamond Resorts respectfully prays that: 

A. Enter a permanent injunction after trial in favor of Diamond Resorts and 

enjoining Aaronson and Aaronson, Austin, PA, his or its directors, officers, shareholders, 

attorneys, agents, servants, employees, and any other persons in active concert or 

participation with them from: 

1) Engaging in false and misleading advertising; 

2) Engaging in deceptive or unfair trade practices; 

B. Enter an Order that Aaronson PA be required to deliver-up (take-down) and 

destroy all false, misleading, and deceptive material found on the Aaronson website and 

found in any marketing material or documentation Aaronson PA produce or is using; 

C. Enter an Order that Aaronson be directed to file with this Court and serve on 

Diamond Resorts within fifteen days after the service of an injunction a report, in writing 

under oath, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which Aaronson has complied with 

the injunction; 

D. Enter an Order requiring Aaronson to provide notice of the injunction by 

posting the Order on the Aaronson PA website; 

E. Enter judgment for Diamond Resorts on this claim against Defendants, 

declaring that each Defendant violated the Act;  
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F. Enter judgment for actual damages for violation of the Act pursuant to Section 

501.211(2), Fla. Stat., money damages and an award of attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 

Section 501.211(2) and 501.2105, Fla. Stat.; 

G. Enter any and all other appropriate relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Dated: February 8, 2018 

GREENSPOON, MARDER, P.A. 

  /s/ Richard W. Epstein 
RICHARD W. EPSTEIN (FL Bar No. 229091) 
richard.epstein@gmlaw.com 
JEFFREY A. BACKMAN (FL Bar No. 662501) 
jeffrey.backman@gmlaw.com  
MEREDITH H. LEONARD (FL Bar No. 69535) 
meredith.leonard@gmlaw.com 
200 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1800 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
Telephone: 954.491.1120  
Facsimile: 954.343.6958 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Diamond Resorts demands a trial by jury for all such claims so triable as a matter of 

right. 

Dated: February 8, 2018 

/s/ Richard W. Epstein 
RICHARD W. EPSTEIN 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have filed the foregoing with the Clerk of Court via 

CM/ECF this 8th day of February, 2018. I further certify that any party that enters an 

appearance in this matter will receive a copy of this document via CM/ECF or in some other 

authorized manner for those counsel or parties who are not authorized to receive Notice of 

Electronic Filing. 

/s/ Richard W. Epstein 
RICHARD W. EPSTEIN 
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